ALLSTATE NEW JERSEY
INSURANCE COMPANY; ALLSTATE
NEW JERSEY PROPERTY and
CASUALTY INSURANCE
COMPANY; ALLSTATE INSURANCE
COMPANY; ALLSTATE FIRE &
CASUALTY INSURANCE
COMPANY; ALLSTATE
NORTHBROOK INDEMNITY
COMPANY; and ALLSTATE
PROPERTY AND CASULATY
INSURANCE COMPANY,

Plaintiffs,

v.

CARTERET COMPREHENSIVE
MEDICAL CARE, P.C., d/b/a
MONROES COMPREHENSIVE
MEDICAL CARE, d/b/a
COMPREHENSIVE MEDICAL CARE,
d/b/a FASSST SPORT, d/b/a
COMPREHENSIVE VEIN CARE;
INIMEG MANAGEMENT
COMPANY, INC.; 311 SPOTSWOOD-
ENGLISHTOWN ROAD REALTY,
L.L.C.; 72 ROUTE 27 REALTY, L.L.C.;
MID-STATE ANESTHESIA
CONSULTANTS, L.L.C.; NORTH
JERSEY PERIOPERATIVE
CONSULTANTS, P.A.;
INTERVENTIONAL PAIN
CONSULTANTS OF NORTH

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Defendants ask the Court to grant their joint petition for certification to review the Appellate Division's published decision interpreting the scope of the arbitration statute in the Automobile Insurance Cost Reduction Act ("AICRA"). The petition presents a question of general public importance concerning whether insurers' Insurance Fraud Prevention Act ("IFPA"), RICO, and similar claims predicated on allegedly fraudulent personal injury protection ("PIP") claims submitted by medical providers must be arbitrated at the medical providers' election. Despite the arbitration statute's broad arbitration mandate, the panel here held that the defendants had to litigate plaintiff Allstate's claims in Court.

Not only is the answer to the question here widely applicable to the medical profession and the automobile insurance industry, but the panel's answer directly conflicts with the recent decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit in Government Employees Insurance Co. v. Mount Prospect Chiropractic Center PC, 98 F.4th 463 (3d Cir. 2024), predicting how this Court would rule on the same issue of the arbitrability of IFPA claims under AICRA's arbitration statute.

This Court should grant Defendants' petition for certification to finally resolve the question and the divergence of authority between the state and federal courts. This is a textbook case that meets several grounds under Rule 2:12-4.

STATEMENT OF THE MATTER

Allstate provides no-fault automobile insurance policies to their insureds pursuant to which their insureds can recover personal injury protection (“PIP”) benefits for medical treatment if they are in an automobile accident. (Pa14). Insureds typically assign their PIP benefits to the medical providers who treat them, like Defendants¹ here, and thus, the medical providers seek PIP payments from Allstate for medical treatment provided, as Defendants did here. (Pa15).²

In 2023, Allstate sued Defendants who are medical providers, their practices, and related personnel for alleged violations of the Insurance Fraud Prevention Act and RICO, and declaratory judgments. (Pa15). Allstate’s Complaint alleges that Defendants submitted fraudulent PIP claims to it over the course of several years and thereby obtained PIP benefits payments that they were allegedly not entitled to

¹ “Defendants” refers collectively to all three sets of defendants who are jointly filing this petition. The Sood Defendants are defendants Rahul Sood, D.O., Sachin Shah, M.D., Midstate Anesthesia Consultants, LLC, Interventional Pain Consultants of North Jersey, LLC, and Sood Medical Practice, LLC. The Carteret Defendants are defendants Carteret Comprehensive Medical Care, P.C., Inimeg Management Company, Inc., Joseph Bufano, Jr., D.C., Jennifer M. O’Brien, Esq., Christopher Bufano, Gerald M. Vernon, D.O., Micah Lieberman, D.C., Richard J. Mills, M.D., Michael C. Dobrow, D.O., Alvin F. Micabalo, D.O., 311 Spotswood-Englishtown Road Realty, LLC, and 72 Route 27 Realty, LLC. And there is also defendant John S. Cho, M.D.

² “Pa___” refers to the Petition Appendix.

receive. (Pa15-16). Allstate disputes that Defendants were entitled to PIP benefits and thus seeks to claw back over \$1.7 million in total PIP benefits it previously paid to Defendants, as well as other remedies. (Pa15-16).

The Automobile Insurance Cost Reduction Act (“AICRA”) has a statutory arbitration provision stating as follows: “Any dispute regarding the recovery of medical expense benefits or other benefits provided under personal injury protection coverage . . . may be submitted to dispute resolution on the initiative of any party to the dispute, as hereinafter provided.” N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(a) (the “Arbitration Statute”). Another subsection of that same statute further contains a non-exhaustive list of the types of disputes that are arbitrable. N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(c).

Moreover, the Department of Banking and Insurance (“DOBI”) has promulgated arbitration regulations and has awarded Forthright Solutions (“Forthright”) the status as the exclusive arbitration services provider to administer such arbitrations. N.J.A.C. 11:3-5.1 to 5.12; Forthright, New Jersey No-Fault PIP Arbitration Rules (Aug. 1, 2022) (“Forthright Rules”). (Pa25). In conjunction with those regulations, Allstate issued an approved document called a decision point review/precertification plan (“Allstate DPR Plan”) which requires alternative dispute resolution under N.J.A.C. 11:3-5. (Pa25).

The various groups of defendants moved to compel arbitration of Allstate's claims under the Arbitration Statute. (Pa16). The trial court granted the motions and compelled arbitration pursuant to the express, broad statutory language. (Pa16, Pa44-65). Allstate then appealed as of right under Rule 2:2-3(b)(8). (Pa17).

The Appellate Division reversed and remanded to the trial court. (Pa13-14, Pa42). Specifically, the panel held that Allstate's claims were not arbitrable under the Arbitration Statute and that those claims could proceed in court. (Pa13-14, Pa26-34). In so holding, the panel disagreed with the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit in Government Employees Ins. Co. v. Mount Prospect Chiropractic Center PC, 98 F.4th 463 (3d Cir. 2024) ("Mount Prospect"), which recently held that such claims are arbitrable under the Arbitration Statute. (Pa40-41). The panel also then held that Allstate's claims were not arbitrable under Allstate's DPR Plan and assignment of benefits. (Pa35-37). In this regard, the panel also ended its decision by disagreeing with the Third Circuit's holding about arbitration under GEICO's different DPR Plan—an issue involving a contract document and parties that were not before the panel. (Pa40-41). The Defendants now jointly petition for certification to review the Appellate Division's decision.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Are Allstate's claims under the IFPA and RICO subject to arbitration under the statutory arbitration provision, N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(a), in the Automobile Insurance Cost Reduction Act?

2. Are Allstate's claims under the IFPA and RICO subject to arbitration under the particular contractual arbitration provision in the Allstate DPR Plan and assignment of benefits?

GROUND FOR CERTIFICATION

- I. This petition presents questions of general public importance concerning arbitration and which the Third Circuit decided differently.

This Court grants a petition for certification “[1] if the appeal presents a question of general public importance which has not been but should be settled by the Supreme Court,” [2] if the appeal presents a question that is “similar to a question presented on another appeal to the Supreme Court,” “[3] if the decision under review is in conflict with any other decision of the same or a higher court,” and “[4] in other matters if the interest of justice requires.” R. 2:12-4; see also Fox v. Woodbridge Twp. Bd. of Educ., 98 N.J. 513, 515-16 (1985) (O’Hern, J., concurring) (explaining the grounds for certification). Cases that merely raise a disagreement with the application of established law to particular facts are not ripe

for certification. Kimmel v. Dayrit, 154 N.J. 337, 341 (1998); Bandel v. Friedrich, 122 N.J. 235, 237-38 (1991).

This petition satisfies at least two grounds for certification. Whether the Arbitration Statute, N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(a), requires an insurer to arbitrate its IFPA, RICO, and related claims at the request of medical provider is a question of general public importance that the Court should resolve. It is a legal issue that arises frequently in New Jersey state and federal courts and has resulted in diametrically conflicting authoritative decisions. As it stands, the answer to the question of law presented in this petition, and thus the forum in which an insurer's claims will be litigated — court or arbitration — depends on whether the insurer commences its lawsuit in state or federal court. That is because the Appellate Division's decision here conflicts with the Third Circuit's decision in Mount Prospect that answered that same question predicting how this Court would rule. (Pa40-41); Mount Prospect, 98 F.4th at 469-70. Indeed, the panel here expressly disagreed with the holding in Mount Prospect. (Pa40-41).

Therefore, the Court should grant certification to resolve that divergence in case law on a pure legal question concerning the Arbitration Statute that profoundly effects both medical providers, like Defendants, and automobile insurance companies, like Allstate. This is a textbook case in which certification is warranted:

the issue presented is one of general public importance and that has split the appellate courts. See R. 2:12-4.³

Whether an insurer's claims against medical provider defendants must be arbitrated under the Arbitration Statute is not an obscure legal issue that infrequently arises. In fact, Mount Prospect was actually three separate district court cases that were consolidated into one appeal. 98 F.4th at 466. Moreover, Defendants are aware of two other appeals pending in the Appellate Division in which the panel is being asked to address this arbitration issue, Allstate v. Davit, No. A-00239-24 and Allstate v. Pennsauken Spine & Rehab, No. A-3819-23. The answer to the legal question presented here will fully and finally decide whether the Arbitration Statute, N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(a), entitles medical providers and/or insurers to elect the arbitral forum to adjudicate insurers' IFPA, RICO, and related claims against medical providers.

Medical providers are entitled to know if they may have to litigate (in many instances re-litigate after having prevailed in PIP arbitration) PIP-related claims in court notwithstanding the arbitration mandate in the Arbitration Statute. By the same token, insurers would benefit from an answer from the Court to whether they can bring IFPA, RICO, and related claims in court that are predicated on PIP claims

³ Defendants recognize that there is not a traditional conflict between panels of the Appellate Division here, see State v. K.P.S., 221 N.J. 266, 281 (2015), but the split here between this case and Mount Prospect is an equivalent split of authority.

that they have paid. Resolution of whether arbitration of such claims is required by the Arbitration Statute undoubtedly also impacts how every insurer who issues automobile policies will handle PIP claims and litigate alleged insurance fraud.

Unsettled questions of statutory and regulatory interpretation are fertile grounds for this Court to grant certification. That is particularly so when the question of law concerns automobile insurance, given the widespread public impact of automobile insurance-related law. See, e.g., Felix v. Richards, 241 N.J. 169, 181 (2020) (granting certification to interpret AICRA); Zabilowicz v. Kelsey, 200 N.J. 507 (2009) (same); Jablonowska v. Suther, 195 N.J. 91, 94 (2008) (same); DiProspero v. Penn, 183 N.J. 477 (2005) (same); see also New Jersey Transit Corp. v. Sanchez, 242 N.J. 78 (2020) (Patterson, J., concurring) (explaining similar). This case is no different.

This case is principally a matter of statutory interpretation to determine the scope of the very broad statutory language in the Arbitration Statute in AICRA. See State Farm Ins. Co. v. Sabato, 337 N.J. Super. 393, 396 (App. Div. 2001) (stating “the language of [the Arbitration Statute] should be read as broadly as the words themselves indicate”); State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Molino, 289 N.J. Super. 406, 410 (App. Div. 1996) (observing word “dispute” in the statute “is unqualified”); see also Gov’t Employees Ins. Co v. Tri Cnty. Neurology & Rehab.

LLC, 721 F. App'x 118, 122 (3d Cir. 2018) (explaining broad statutory arbitration provision). And it also calls for the review of the regulations that DOBI promulgated concerning arbitration at N.J.A.C. 11:3-5.1 to 5.12. The Court is called upon to interpret the Arbitration Statute's broad language to resolve the fundamental question of whether the Arbitration Statute requires arbitration of the types of fraud-based claims that Allstate brought here against the Defendants.

Finally, the particular language in Allstate's DPR Plan concerning alternative dispute resolution, which forms an independent contractual ground for arbitration and which the panel here interpreted, (Pa35-37), is not just a contract issue confined to the parties to that document, Allstate and Defendants. Rather, Allstate's DPR Plan applies across the board to all medical providers who have been assigned PIP benefits from their Allstate-insured patients and then seek those benefits from Allstate. Allstate is one of the top five issuers of automobile insurance in New Jersey. So, the contractual arbitration issue far transcends just Allstate and Defendants in this case.

In sum, this case checks the boxes for the Court to grant certification to review the Appellate Division's judgment.

ERRORS COMPLAINED OF AND COMMENTS ON THE APPELLATE DIVISION DECISION

I. The panel misinterpreted the Arbitration Statute to artificially constrain its scope to exclude Allstate’s fraud-based claims.

The Appellate Division misinterpreted the broad language of the Arbitration Statute, to exclude from arbitration Allstate’s IFPA, RICO, and related claims that are fundamentally — regardless of the label that Allstate self-selected — disputes concerning the payment of PIP benefits to the Defendants. As noted above and confirmed by previous Appellate Division panels in Sabato and Molino and the Third Circuit in Mount Prospect, the Arbitration Statute’s language is exceedingly broad. See N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(a) (stating that “[a]ny dispute regarding the recovery of medical expense benefits . . . may be submitted to dispute resolution on the initiative of any party to the dispute, as hereinafter provided”); see also N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(c) (identifying a broad, non-exclusive array of the types of disputes covered by the arbitration provision). Indeed, the panel here conceded that the language was “broad.” (Pa28). And there is also no question that arbitration under the statute includes disputes about PIP claim fraud. Sabato, 337 N.J. Super. at 396; Tri Cnty. Neurology & Rehab. LLC, 721 F. App’x at 122.

Yet, the panel abandoned the broad arbitration language in favor of achieving what it believed to be a more limited purpose of the provision and gave the regulations more emphasis than the statute. (Pa28-29, Pa30-32). To reach its

conclusion, the panel also parsed the meaning of the phrase “regarding the recovery of” PIP benefits to assign it a far too constrained meaning. (Pa34). And that parsing also led the panel to divorce that phrase from the language that immediately precedes it: “any dispute regarding.” (Pa34). By doing so, the panel read the statute in an artificially constrained manner to exclude what are clearly disputes over recovery of PIP benefits.

At base, Allstate’s IFPA, RICO, and related claims assert that Defendants were not entitled to recover the \$1.7 million in PIP benefits that Allstate previously paid them due to alleged fraud. (Pa15). That is clearly (1) a dispute by Allstate, (2) regarding Defendants’ recovery of PIP benefits totaling \$1.7 million. Allstate disputes that Defendants should have recovered those PIP benefits. (Pa15-16). Therefore, Defendants are entitled to elect to submit that dispute to arbitration, just as the Arbitration Statute permits. N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(a); see also Mount Prospect, 98 F.4th at 469 (“As these suits are GEICO’s effort to recover medical expense claims paid through auto insurance PIP benefits, they fall under the [Arbitration Statute]’s plain text.”).

The panel’s decision abrogates that right of Defendants (and all providers sued in similar cases). The panel effectively gave insurers a “heads I win, tails you lose” scenario. While medical providers are required to bring their PIP benefit

disputes in arbitration under the Arbitration Statute, the converse is not true according to the Appellate Division.

As a result of the panel's holding, insurers like Allstate can circumvent the PIP dispute arbitration mandate in AICRA by filing a lawsuit in state court that aggregates hundreds or thousands of PIP claims together, asserting they were all fraudulent, and seeking to disgorge the PIP benefits plus trebling of that disgorgement and other remedies. This is antithetical to the entire purpose of the AICRA statute. See Haines v. Taft, 237 N.J. 271, 290 (2019) (observing that the purpose of the Arbitration Statute was to keep disputes about PIP benefits "out of the courts"); Molino, 289 N.J. Super. at 410-11 (recognizing that "the reduction of court congestion is one of the overwhelming goals of our no-fault scheme"). Indeed, approaches to the no-fault law "which minimize resort to the judicial process, or at least do not increase reliance upon the judiciary, are strongly to be favored." Gambino v. Royal Globe Ins. Companies, 86 N.J. 100, 107 (1981). As the district court presciently explained, the interpretation the panel here adopted, which allows an insurer's labeling of a PIP benefits dispute to control, allows insurers "wishing to sidestep mandatory arbitration" to "classify their claims in ways that fling open the courthouse doors," which is contrary to AICRA's strong policy of avoiding exactly

that outcome. State Farm Guar. Ins. Co. v. Tri-Cnty. Chiropractic & Rehab. Ctr., P.C., No. 22-cv-4852, 2023 WL 4362748, at *6 (D.N.J. July 6, 2023).

To this same point, the panel's decision incorrectly lets insurers like Allstate bypass the Arbitration Statute based on the notion that what the insurers seek in these kinds of lawsuits against providers are tort "damages" rooted in "tort law" rather than recovery of PIP benefits. (Pa34). That is form over substance, which lets an insurer's creative labels dictate the forum. Indeed, Allstate previously argued that lawsuits like this one are at their "core, a reverse PIP suit" and that such suits are "PIP dispute[s]." (Allstate Brief at 7-8, Allstate v. Lajara, No. A-684-11). What the panel's decision does is to improperly create a caveat to the Arbitration Statute that the Legislature did not include. DiProspero, 183 N.J. at 492. Allstate seeks in this lawsuit, like all insurers seek in these lawsuits, to claw back paid PIP benefits. (Pa15-16). But the Arbitration Statute's plain language does not distinguish between disputes over PIP benefits unpaid versus those already paid. See N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(a), (c); Tri-Cnty. Chiropractic & Rehab. Ctr., P.C., No. 22-cv-4852, 2023 WL 4362748, at *6 (explaining "the plain text of the No-Fault Law's arbitration provision makes no distinction between disputes for fraudulent PIP benefits that were already paid and those that are pending"). There is no getting around that this is a dispute over the recovery of PIP benefits — whether the Defendants were

entitled to recover PIP benefits — which is exactly what the Arbitration Statute encompasses.

The panel's holding here also leaned on and deferred to DOBI's PIP regulations and the Forthright Rules rather than requiring them to be faithful to the actual breadth of the Arbitration Statute. (Pa29-32). In a similar vein, the panel said it had "serious questions" about the relief available under the IFPA and RICO that could be afforded in arbitration under those DOBI regulations and the Forthright Rules instead of questioning whether the rules and regulations actually comport with the Legislature's directive in the broad Arbitration Statute and requiring that they do so. (Pa29-32). Neither DOBI nor Forthright are entitled to alter the language in the Arbitration Statute that the Legislature chose such that it would encompass a far narrower subset of disputes to the exclusion of PIP benefits disputes that an insurer labels fraud. See DiProspero, 183 N.J. at 491 (holding a court "cannot write in an additional qualification which the Legislature pointedly omitted in drafting its own enactment"); Mount Prospect, 98 F.4th at 469 (declining to carve fraud claims out of the Arbitration Statute because the statute has no such exclusion).

Moreover, the panel's reliance on the trial court decision in Allstate Ins. Co. v. Lopez, 311 N.J. Super. 660 (Law Div. 1998) concerning the arbitrability of fraud, (Pa31, Pa33), was misguided because Lopez's holding had already been questioned

if not implicitly overruled by the Appellate Division. See Sabato, 337 N.J. Super. at 397.

The panel also erred when it held that the arbitration reference in the Allstate DPR Plan did not compel arbitration either. (Pa35-37). The error was an outgrowth of the panel's errors concerning the scope of the Arbitration Provision.

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