**SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY**  
**Docket No. 090337**

ALLSTATE NEW JERSEY  
INSURANCE COMPANY,  
ALLSTATE NEW JERSEY  
PROPERTY and CASUALTY  
INSURANCE COMPANY,  
ALLSTATE INSURANCE  
COMPANY, ALLSTATE FIRE &  
CASUALTY INSURANCE  
COMPANY, ALLSTATE  
NORTHBROOK INDEMNITY  
COMPANY, and ALLSTATE  
PROPERTY AND CASUALTY  
INSURANCE COMPANY,

Plaintiffs-Appellants

v.

CARTERET COMPREHENSIVE  
MEDICAL CARE, P.C., d/b/a  
MONROE COMPREHENSIVE  
MEDICAL CARE, d/b/a  
COMPREHENSIVE MEDICAL  
CARE, d/b/a FASSST SPORT, d/b/a  
COMPREHENSIVE VEIN CARE,  
INIMEG MANAGEMENT  
COMPANY, INC., 311  
SPOTSWOOD-ENGLISHTOWN  
ROAD REALTY, L.L.C., 72  
ROUTE 27 REALTY, L.L.C.,

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

In 1998, the Legislature enacted the Automobile Insurance Cost Reduction Act (AICRA). AICRA revised the dispute-resolution system for disputes concerning the payment of personal injury protection (PIP) benefits for injuries sustained in automobile accidents. AICRA also charged the Commissioner of the Department of Banking and Insurance (DOBI) with promulgating implementing regulations. This case involves a straightforward application of settled law to interpret AICRA and the DOBI regulations.

Insureds and covered accident victims typically assign their rights to PIP benefits to the providers who treat them; the providers then submit claims for payment to insurers, which have a maximum of 105 days to deny or pay a claim. Payment disputes can be submitted to dispute resolution (sometimes called PIP arbitration), which a company called Forthright administers. Forthright annually resolves tens of thousands of small-denomination disputes between assignee providers seeking payment and insurers that have denied coverage or failed to pay the requested benefits in a timely manner.

Forthright has no authority to award any affirmative relief to insurers; rather, the sole issues are whether an insurer must pay and in what amount. The only parties are the insurer, the insured, and the assignee provider (ordinarily, a business entity that employs the treating professionals). Discovery is limited to

the medical necessity of treatment, medical history, and lost wages. PIP awards are subject to limited judicial review with no right to a trial de novo.

In this case, the plaintiff insurers (Plaintiffs) sued twenty-seven defendants (Defendants) who conspired in a complex insurance-fraud scheme. Plaintiffs seek compensatory and punitive damages and other relief under the Insurance Fraud Protection Act (IFPA), the New Jersey anti-racketeering statute (RICO), and common law and equity. The scheme involved approximately 800 fraudulent claims and \$1.7 million in unlawfully obtained PIP benefits. The Law Division held that Plaintiffs were required to file their claims in PIP dispute resolution, not in court.

In a thorough published opinion, the Appellate Division reversed, reaching the only conclusion that it could: PIP dispute resolution does not—and could not constitutionally—apply to insurers' claims for affirmative relief for fraud. The Appellate Division's decision was based on well-settled principles of statutory interpretation: courts must read statutory provisions in the context of the overall statutory scheme, avoid unconstitutional and absurd results, harmonize statutes concerning the same subject matter, and defer to the interpretations of agencies charged with implementing and enforcing a statute. The Appellate Division's faithful application of established New Jersey Supreme Court case law presents no reason for this Court's review.

The Appellate Division's disagreement with a decision of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit is also not a ground for certification. The Third Circuit's erroneous view of New Jersey law in Government Employees Insurance Co. v. Mount Prospect Chiropractic Center PA, 98 F.4th 463 (3d Cir. 2024) (Mount Prospect), was based on an incomplete record that led to that court's misunderstanding. The parties there focused on a different legal issue and only tangentially briefed whether PIP dispute resolution applies to insurers' claims for fraud. Without adequate briefing, the Third Circuit relied on the American Arbitration Association's Commercial Arbitration Rules—which have no application in PIP dispute resolution—to conclude that the insurers were required to, and could effectively, “arbitrate” their fraud claims. The precedential decision below corrects that misunderstanding and will be applied in future federal cases.

Finally, the Appellate Division's unremarkable interpretation of Plaintiffs' Decision Point Review Plan (DPR Plan)—a document required by DOBI regulations that governs insurer review of PIP benefit claims—does not warrant certification. The DPR Plan requires assignee providers to bring claims to PIP dispute resolution after exhausting internal review and incorporates DOBI's regulations. The DPR Plan applies only to the payment disputes subject to dispute resolution under AICRA and the regulations.

## **COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE MATTER INVOLVED**

### **Allegations in the Complaint**

Plaintiffs provide no-fault automobile insurance policies in New Jersey, under which covered individuals can recover PIP benefits if they are involved in accidents. See Pa0025 (Compl. ¶ 3). When covered individuals receive medical treatment, they typically assign their PIP benefits to their providers, who seek payment from Plaintiffs. See N.J.S.A. 39:6A-4 (providing that PIP benefits may be assigned “to a provider of service benefits”).

Plaintiffs’ complaint alleges that, from 2008 through 2022, Defendants conspired to obtain, through false and misleading insurance claims, more than \$1.7 million in PIP benefits from Plaintiffs through more than 800 medical claims. See, e.g., Pa0035-37, Pa0074 (Compl. ¶¶ 107-110, 338). Plaintiffs learned after making the benefit payments that the medical practice that received the benefits was illegally controlled by a non-physician, and that Defendants engaged in kickbacks, illegal self-referrals, and a pattern of racketeering in connection with the services for which the medical practice obtained payment. Pa0448-0449. It took an extensive investigation and the assistance of cooperating former employees of the practice to uncover the fraud. See Pa0043-0061 (Compl. ¶¶ 137-276); Pa0448-449 (Hickey Cert. ¶¶ 6-11).

Plaintiffs seek compensatory and treble damages, investigation expenses, attorneys' fees, and costs under the IFPA, RICO, and common law and equity. Pa0085-0086 (Compl. ¶¶ 382-383); Pa0109-0112 (Compl. ¶¶ 484-492); Pa0113-0117 (Compl. ¶¶ 493-516); Pa0118-0119 (Compl. ¶¶ 520-521).

### **AICRA and the DOBI Regulations**

AICRA is codified in Chapter 6A of Title 39. It contains multiple provisions relating to PIP benefits that are relevant here.

Section 4 requires “every standard automobile liability insurance policy” to include “personal injury protection benefits for the payment of benefits without regard to negligence, liability or fault of any kind” covering the named insured and family members, pedestrians, and other passengers injured in an accident involving the insured’s vehicle. N.J.S.A. 39:6A-4.

Section 5 governs notice of benefit claims between insurers and healthcare providers and provides that PIP benefits are “overdue” if the insurer does not pay them within 60 days of notice of a claim, with the ability to extend that period once by 45 days to conduct additional investigation. N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5(a)-(g). Thus, insurers must pay or reject each claim for PIP benefits within 105 days. Section 5(h) requires insurers to pay interest on overdue benefits. 39:6A-5(h). Section 5(i) states that insurers must “provide any claimant with the option

of submitting a dispute under this section to dispute resolution” under Section 5.1. N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5(i).

Section 5.1(a) states: “Any dispute regarding the recovery of medical expense benefits or other benefits provided under personal injury protection coverage . . . may be submitted to dispute resolution on the initiative of any party to the dispute.” N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(a). Section 5.1(b) delegates to the DOBI Commissioner the responsibility to promulgate rules and regulations regarding such dispute resolution and to designate an organization to administer the proceedings. N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(b). Section 5.1(c) lists the types of disputes that can be addressed in PIP dispute resolution, while Section 5.1(d) permits the dispute-resolution professional to refer issues of medical necessity to a medical review organization. N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(d).

Section 5.1(e) provides that disputes may pertain to “all or a portion of a disputed treatment or treatments,” and that “[a]ny portion of a treatment or diagnostic test or service which is not under review shall be reimbursed in accordance with the provisions of section 5.” N.J.S.A. 39:6A-5.1(e). Section 5.1(e) further provides the remedies available in PIP dispute resolution: “If the dispute resolution proceeding results in a determination that all or part of a treatment or treatments . . . are medically necessary and appropriate, reimbursement shall be made with interest . . .” Ibid.

Section 13 governs the “[d]iscovery of facts” relating to PIP claims to which an insurer is entitled: a statement of lost earnings from the injured person; “a written report of the history, condition, treatment, dates and costs of such treatment of the injured person,” and the records regarding those matters; and a “mental or physical examination [of the injured person] conducted by a health care provider.” N.J.S.A. 39:6A-13.

As directed, DOBI promulgated regulations to “establish procedures for the resolution of disputes concerning the payment of medical expense and other benefits provided by personal injury protection coverage in policies of automobile insurance.” N.J.A.C. 11:3-5.1(a). The insured, a provider who is an assignee of PIP benefits, or the insurer may make a request for dispute resolution. N.J.A.C. 11:3-5.6(a). A successful claimant, but not the insurer, may recover attorneys’ fees in PIP dispute resolution. N.J.A.C. 11:3-5.6(e); N.J. Coal. of Health Care Pros., Inc. v. DOBI, 323 N.J. Super. 207, 262-64 (App. Div. 1999), certif. denied, 162 N.J. 485 (1999).

PIP dispute-resolution awards are “binding upon the parties” but are subject to judicial review under the Alternative Procedure for Dispute Resolution Act (APDRA), N.J.S.A. 2A:23A-13. N.J.A.C. 11:3-5.6(g). An award may be vacated under the APDRA only for fraud, corruption, or misconduct; partiality of the neutral; excess of power; failure to follow the APDRA’s

procedures; or prejudicial error by erroneous application of law. N.J.S.A. 2A:23A-13(c). There is no right to a trial de novo following PIP ADR. See Churm v. Prudential Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 276 N.J. Super. 631, 632-33 (App. Div. 1994) (holding, pre-AICRA, that there is no right to a trial de novo after PIP dispute resolution), certif. denied, 142 N.J. 447 (1995).

As DOBI and the Office of the Insurance Fraud Prosecutor (OIFP) explained in their amicus brief below, PIP dispute resolution “is a one-way process” because “[t]he claim is either allowed or denied. While PIP arbitrators can consider evidence of fraud as a defense when making their decisions, they cannot grant affirmative relief to insurance companies in the form of any of the IFPA’s remedies, such as damages or costs and attorneys’ fees.” DOBI Br. 4-5. PIP arbitrators “cannot impose liability upon parties who never signed a bill or made a claim for services,” id. at 15, and cannot grant equitable relief, id. at 17.

“[D]iscovery in the PIP arbitration process is non-existent,” and the regulations and rules “do not provide for the types of discovery that a party bringing (or defending) a large and complex case alleging IFPA violations would require to prove (or rebut) the allegations and penalties that are being sought.” Id. at 22. That is because, “in PIP arbitrations, N.J.S.A. 39:6A-13(g) limits the exchange of discovery to information concerning a patient’s ‘history, condition, treatment, dates and cost of such treatment’ and the scope of this

cannot be expanded.” In re N.J. Healthcare Coal., Order No. A12-114, 2012 WL 6653982, at \*10 (DOBI Nov. 23, 2012) (Pa0497). The PIP dispute-resolution rules also “do not include any method of discovering what evidence is in the other party’s possession through interrogatories, document demands, or depositions.” DOBI Br. 23.

Publicly available Forthright reports show that the system handles tens of thousands of cases involving small-denomination benefit claims. For example, 49,098 PIP dispute-resolution cases were filed in 2024 alone. See <https://www.nj.gov/dobi/pipinfo/aicrapg.htm> (follow links for quarterly PIP reports) (last visited February 24, 2025). There were between forty-one and forty-three arbitrators, depending on the quarter. See ibid. The average award to claimants in each of the last four quarters was less than \$7,500. See ibid.

Thus, the PIP dispute-resolution system quickly and efficiently resolves high volumes of small payment disputes between insurers and providers, with none of the traditional tools of discovery such as depositions, document requests, nonparty subpoenas, or interrogatories, and with no right to a trial de novo.

### **Plaintiffs’ DPR Plan**

Under AICRA and DOBI regulations, no-fault insurers must put in place DPR Plans, which describe the insurers’ clinically related decision-making on

claims for PIP benefits. See N.J.A.C. 11:3-4.6. DOBI must approve the DPR Plans and any amendments to them. N.J.A.C. 11:3-4.7. The DPR Plans are permitted to include “[r]easonable restrictions on the assignment of benefits” from insureds to providers. N.J.A.C. 11:3-4.7(c)(7). Those restrictions may include “[a] requirement that as a condition of assignment, the provider agrees to submit disputes to alternate dispute resolution pursuant to N.J.A.C. 11:3-5,” which implements AICRA’s dispute-resolution provisions. N.J.A.C. 11:3-4.9(a)(3).

Defendants submitted as part of the record below a version of Plaintiffs’ DPR Plan that DOBI approved sometime between AICRA’s enactment and 2010. That version of the DPR Plan contained the following language regarding dispute resolution as a condition of assignment:

Assignment of a named insured’s or eligible injured person’s rights to receive benefits for medically necessary treatment, durable medical equipment tests or other services is prohibited except to a licensed health care provider who agrees to: . . . (e) Submit disputes to alternative dispute resolution pursuant to N.J.A.C. 11:3.

[Pa511.]

### **The Decisions Below**

Some of Defendants filed answers with jury demands. Pa0152-0333. Others moved to compel “arbitration” under the PIP dispute-resolution statute.

The Law Division granted the motions to compel arbitration and dismissed all of Plaintiffs' claims without prejudice, including those against Defendants who did not move to compel arbitration. Pa0001-0022, Pa0334.

Plaintiffs appealed, and the Appellate Division reversed in a published opinion. It held that Plaintiffs' claims are not disputes regarding the recovery of PIP benefits and thus not subject to PIP dispute resolution but instead should be decided in the trial court, with a right to a jury trial. 42a. The court relied on this Court's case law to hold that AICRA must be harmonized with the IFPA and RICO. 27a-28a. The court explained that AICRA's dispute-resolution provisions "focus . . . on providing swift compensation for people injured in automobile accidents," and establish a "streamlined and specialized process to resolve disputes between insureds, their medical providers, and insurance companies." 28a-29a.

The court further explained that "[t]he [IFPA], RICO, and AICRA can be harmonized when the language used in each statute is considered and construed in the context of the legislative goals." 32a. Although PIP dispute resolution is "suited for disputes of whether an insured or an assignee should receive coverage for medical expenses and, if so, in what amount," the IFPA and RICO are aimed at eliminating fraud and provide for a broad array of remedies. 29a-33a. The Appellate Division relied on this Court's case law to distinguish

between disputes about the “recovery of medical benefits”—which the Appellate Division held are subject to PIP dispute resolution—and tort claims for damages such as those under the IFPA and RICO—which it held are not. 34a.

The Appellate Division considered the view of amici DOBI and OIFP that “insurance fraud claims have not historically been, nor should they be, subject to PIP arbitration.” 34a. DOBI and OIFP’s amicus brief explained that under AICRA “PIP dispute resolution only applies to disputes over payment of medical expense benefits with an insured, an injured person, or a medical provider who has an assignment of benefits,” not to insurers’ affirmative claims for fraud. DOBI Br. 10. And the agencies explained that insurers “would become all but unable to use the IFPA to combat the huge problem of fraud in the insurance industry if an in-court forum were not available.” Id. at 34.

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